A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Rebecca Rufin, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court 

to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review 

designated in Part B of this petition. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Rufin seeks review of the unpublished Court of Appeals decision 

entered on August 17, 2015, a copy of which is in the Appendix at pages 

A-1 through A-11. 1 This case involves a female manager currently 

employed at Seattle Parks and Recreation Department, who years earlier, 

while employed at Seattle City Light (SCL"), provided evidence during an 

investigation of a gender-based complaint by another female SCL 

manager, to the effect that Superintendent Jorge Carrasco mistreated 

women and favored men. Soon after providing that testimony, feeling 

harassed and fearing retaliation, she transferred out of Carrasco's 

organization and went to the Parks Department. Several years later she 

sought to return to SCL because her promotional opportunities at Parks 

were dwindling (she had gone as high as she could go there), so she 

applied for two job opportunities at SCL, a few months apart, both in 

chains of command leading to Carrasco. Petitioner was denied the 

1 The Court of Appeals rulings, denying petitioner's motions to publish and for 
reconsideration, are attached as A-12 and A-13. 



positions in both instances. When she sought an explanation for the failure 

to hire her, Carrasco's Human Resources Officer told her she had "burned 

her bridges." Rutin's theory of the case is that Carrasco held retaliatory 

animus towards Rutin for her reports and testimony of his misconduct, and 

that after she applied for each job, he learned of Rutin's application and 

directed his subordinates to ensure she was not hired. That explains why 

Rutin did so well in the application process until upper management 

(Carrasco's direct reports) got involved-each time their involvement 
' 

coincided with the end of her favorable treatment in the hiring process. 

The trial court permitted one retaliation claim to go to trial and 

dismissed the other claim at summary judgment-then excluded from the 

jury any evidence of the second job application leaving it to appear this 

was a one-time event. The jury found for the City. The Court of Appeals 

affirmed the grant of partial summary judgment and affirmed the decision 

to exclude any evidence of the second application from the jury. Petitioner 

seeks review because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 

with prior Court of Appeals and Supreme Court decisions, and because the 

petition involves issues of substantial public interest. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Issue No. 1: At summary judgment in a retaliation case brought 

under the WLAD, whether the proper causation element should be the one 

2 



articulated in Davis v. West One Auto Group: whether retaliation was a 

substantial motive behind the adverse employment action? 

Issue No.2: Whether in a case alleging retaliation under RCW 

49.60.210, a plaintiff who presents circumstantial evidence probative of 

retaliatory intent is nevertheless required in all cases to also produce 

admissions from the relevant decision-maker(s), admitting either that they 

had knowledge of the plaintiffs statutorily protected activity or that they 

were influenced in their decision by a person with such knowledge? 

Issue No. 3: The trial court found that there was an issue of 

material fact regarding whether retaliation was a substantial factor in 

Rufin's non-hiring for the CMEM position. Was it error for the trial court 

to fail to consider Rufin's evidence "cumulatively" and to instead analyze 

the LPSM hiring process "separately" from the evidence presented 

regarding the CMEM hiring process during the same time period? 

Issue No. 4: Rufin was one of only three candidates for the 

LPSM position rated "High" by all four interview panelists. The other two 

candidates were advanced to a second interview, while Rufin was not. 

When such decision was made, the LPSM Hiring Manager gave different 

justifications to the City's Personnel Specialist and to Ms. Rufin for why 

Rufin did not advance. Neither of the justifications given at the time were 

consistent with the justification he relied upon after litigat'ion commenced. 
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Did the trial court err in excluding all evidence about the inconsistencies 

and irregularities in the LPSM hiring process from the trial of the 

retaliation claim based on the CMEM hiring process during the same time 

period, which Rufin offered as proof of a "pattern" of retaliation? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Rutin Reported Gender Discrimination by Superintendent 
Jorge Carrasco, Who Was Informed of the Allegations Against 
Him During an Investigation and a Later Lawsuit. 

Before Carrasco took over as Superintendent, Becky Rufin was a 

respected leader, manager, and engineer at City Light. CP 575-77. In 

January 2006, Ms. Rufin gave a 4-page single-spaced statement to the 

Seattle Mayor's office, in which she recounted the discriminatory conduct 

towards her by City Light Superintendent Jorge Carrasco. CP1696-99, 

1635-36. Rufin made detailed allegations. CP1696-99. The City's 

investigator interviewed Rufin about her allegations on January 13, 2006. 

See CP 2224, 2205. Less than two weeks later, Carrasco was interviewed 

and questioned about the allegations against him. CP 2224; CP 1984 

(119: 12-14; 120:9-17). Carrasco admits the investigator informed him that 

certain persons complained that he mistreated women and informed him of 

those allegations, CP 2011 (36:5-8, 36: 17-22), but claims he does not 

remember the details of the discussion. Id. (35:9-15). 

By March 2006, Rufin's experience with City Light had drastically 
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changed under Carrasco's leadership. CP 577-78. She no longer felt 

respected or encouraged, her input and opinions were not valued by 

Carrasco, she was not promoted, and was in fact demoted, in a 

reorganization. CP 578-94 (~~ 16-48). Rutin decided to accept a position 

with the City's Parks Department as the Engineering Manager, a position 

she still holds today. CP 592-94 (~~ 44, 49). At the Parks Department, 

Rutin is unable to advance in an engineering capacity, because she is 

currently at the highest rank that requires an engineering degree. Id. 

In October 2006, another City Light employee, Wanda Davis, filed 

a lawsuit alleging gender discrimination at City Light. See CP 2229. Rutin 

was deposed in the Davis matter in September 2007 and was questioned 

about her experience at City Light and her allegations that Carrasco had 

discriminated against Rutin based on her gender. CP 2081-94. 

Carrasco was deposed in the Davis lawsuit in October 2007-four 

weeks after Rutin's deposition. See CP 1979,2081. Carrasco answered 

questions about the investigation of Tobin's 2006 complaint and admitted 

that he was informed of the outcome of the investigation. CP 1984, 1988. 

Carrasco was specifically asked by Davis' counsel about the work 

performance of Rebecca Rutin and her unsuccessful candidacy for the 

Power Supply Asset Management Director position. CP 1987-88. "The 

parties do not dispute that Rutin's participation as a witness constituted 
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protected activity for a retaliation claim." Op., at 2. 

2. Rutin Attempted To Return To City Light. 

In 2010, 2011, and 2012, Ms. Rufin sought to return to Seattle City 

Light by applying for two (2) positions: a Civil I Mechanical Engineer 

Manager ("CMEM") position, and a Large Projects Senior Manager 

("LPSM") position. CP 625-26, 628, 2311. 

a. Rutin Was Rejected For the CMEM Position. 

The hiring manager for the CMEM position was Mike Haynes. CP 

1132. He was a direct report to Steve Kerns. CP 1134. Kerns was a direct 

report to Superintendent Carrasco. CP 1187 (~ 2), CP 2052 (22:19-23:1). 

Carrasco was the person who Rufin claims had the retaliatory animus. In 

the 2011 CMEM hiring process, Haynes initially supported Rufin with 

high marks, but his position changed-he lowered his marks for Rufin and 

raised them for McLean (a male candidate he had marked lower than 

Rufin)-after Kerns got involved in the interview process. McLean was 

offered the job but refused, and the position was left open even though 

Rufin was the second ranked candidate after the third interview. Haynes 

then refused to even consider Rufin for the same position in a later posting 

(2012), because, he said, it "was not a good use of time and resources." CP 

1136. This dramatic change in Haynes' position is unexplained and is the 

core of this claim. As delineated below, Kerns' involvement in the hiring 

6 



process was unusual, and the paperwork seemed to indicate that Rufin was 

approved for hire to the position. Those facts support Rutin's theory of the 

case: that Carrasco learned ofRufin's application and directed his 

subordinate to ensure she was not hired. 

In November 2010, Rufin applied for the CMEM position and was 

the only candidate the resume review panel unanimously rated "High." CP 

625, 1140-43. For months, Rufin received no information on the status of 

her application, but then ran into one of the resume raters, who told her 

that someone "complained" and the hiring process had come to a halt. CP 

625-26. 

In August 2011, Rufin submitted a second application for the 

CMEM position, after learning a new hiring process for the position was 

opening up. CP 626. Again, Rufin was unanimously rated "High" by the 

resume review panel. CP 4042-44. She, along with two candidates who 

also received unanimous "High" ratings from the resume review panel and 

two candidates who received a mix of "Medium" and "High" ratings, 

advanced to the First Interview stage with three interview panelists. Cf 

id., and CP 4046-48. Only Rufin and one other candidate (Mr. McLean) 

received unanimous "High" ratings in the First Interview. CP 4046-48. 

Still, four candidates, including Rufin and Mr. McLean, advanced 

to the Second Interview stage, with three different interview panelists. CP 
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2280-82. Mike Haynes, the Hiring Manager for the CMEM position, was 

on the second interview panel. Id.; CP 2048 (9: 14-23). In the Second 

Interview, Rufin was the only candidate unanimously rated "High." CP 

2280-82. No other candidate received even one "High" rating. Id. Hiring 

Manager Haynes wrote in his notes that Mr. McLean "needed more 

depth." CP 2280. Haynes made no critical comments about Rufin and told 

his assistant that Rufin "did really well" at her interview. Id.; CP 1975. 

Rufin then advanced to the "qualification audit" stage of the hiring 

process, which City Light's Personnel Specialist testified indicates the 

Second Interview panel identified Rufin as the top candidate and 

recommended her for hire. CP 2267-68 (~~ "o," 11, 12); CP 2285. This 

occurred on or before September 21, 20 11. I d. Thus, the paper record 

shows a decision to hire Rufin for the CMEM position was made after the 

Second Interview. Id.; CP 2267-68 (~~ "o," 11, 12); CP 2285. The City did 

not notify Rufin she was recommended for hire or offer her the job. CP 

2307 (~ 2). 

In November 2011, the same four candidates who participated in 

the Second Interview stage-in which only Rufin received a "High" 

rating-were invited to a Third Interview, with Haynes and his boss, Steve 

Kern. CP 2290, 2296. It was "not typical" for Kern to do interviews for 

jobs below Haynes. CP 2077 (8:24-9: 1). Haynes admits he did not plan to 
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have a Third Interview and only decided to do so after the Second 

Interview was complete. CP 2050 (15:2-6; 17:20-22). One of the 

candidates withdrew before the Third Interview, leaving Rutin, McLean, 

and another person as the remaining candidates. CP 2296. 

Haynes and Kern collaborated about the interviews before deciding 

how to rate the candidates. CP 2053-54 (29: 10-30:1 ). Haynes then 

reversed his previous ratings for Rutin and McLean. See CP 2280; cf CP 

2290. He lowered his rating for Rutin from "High" to "Medium" and 

raised his rating for McLean from "Medium" to "High." Id. Kern's ratings 

were identical to Haynes. CP 2290, 2296. They both rated the third 

candidate "Medium." Id. The City offered the CMEM job to Mr. McLean, 

who turned it down. CP 2054 (30:2-4; 31 :4-6). Instead of hiring Rutin, 

who had previously been the top candidate and recommended for hire, the 

City did not fill the position and the job remained vacant. I d. (31 :7 -12). 

Susan McClure, the Personnel Specialist assigned to Haynes' 

division, recalls a conversation with another Personnel Specialist working 

with Haynes. See CP 2262 (~ 4); CP 1128-29. After learning McClean did 

not take the job, McClure asked if it was offered to Rutin and was told by 

the other Personnel Specialist that there was 'an issue' with her." Id. 

In April2012, the City opened up the CMEM hiring process once 

again, and Rutin applied for a third time. CP 628. In May 2012, nine (9) 
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candidate resumes were rated by three raters. CP 1312-16; CP 4109-111. 

Only two (2) candidates receive unanimous "high" ratings-Rutin and a 

male candidate with the initials I.D. Id. By June 2012, Rutin had not 

received any communication about her application, so she sent an email to 

Superintendent Carrasco, and requested a meeting to discuss the results of 

the August 2011 CMEM hiring process. CP 719. The next day, the City 

sent Rutin a letter informing her that "we will not be considering your 

application at this time for this [CMEM] position." CP 1961. 

Meanwhile, the City interviewed five candidates; only one of 

whom (I.D.) was rated equal to Rutin at the resume rating stage. CP 4113 

(CP 2193). The other four candidates who advanced had all received lower 

ratings than Rutin. See CP 4109-111; cf CP 4113. Two ofthe candidates 

interviewed received "Medium" ratings from all the panelists, and 

advanced to the Second Interviews, including I.D. and another candidate 

with the initials D.S. CP 4117-122; CP 1136 (~ 15). The City did not fill 

the CMEM position and it remained vacant for another year. CP 1136-37. 

b. City Managers Told Rutin the Hiring Decision Was 
"Political" and She Had "Burned Her Bridges". 

In April2012, Rutin met with Darnell Cola, the Director of the 

City's Large Projects and Asset Management Division. CP 2021 (5:16-

25), 2025 (21 :20-23). Cola had been a panelist on the Second Interview 
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panel for the CMEMjob in September 2011 and rated Rufin "High." CP 

2281. During their conversation, Cola brought up the CMEM position and 

told Rufin that Mike Haynes informed Cola that the decision not to hire 

her was a "politicaf' one. CP 2103 (20: 13-21: 10); CP 2027 (27:23-29:2). 

On June 11, 2012, Superintendent Carrasco responded to Rufin's 

email inquiring about the CMEM position and why she had been turned 

down during the 2011 hiring process. CP 1963. In responding, Carrasco 

copied DaVonna Johnson, the H.R. Officer who reported directly to 

Carrasco, and asked Johnson to respond on his behalf. Id.; CP 2058-59 

(5: 14-6:2). Johnson met with Rufin on June 20, 2012. CP 628. In that 

meeting, Johnson told Rufin that she had "burned her bridges" and would 

never be considered for any future management positions at Seattle City 

Light. Id.; CP 2145-46 (189: 13-190:5). 

c. Rutin Was Rejected for the LPSM Job 
Contemporaneous With the CMEM Rejections. 

The hiring manager for the LPSM position was Darnell Cola. CP 

113, 124, 1122. He was a direct report to Phil West, the Officer of the 

Customer Service and Energy Delivery Branch of SCL, who was a direct 

report to Carrasco. CP 130 (App. at A-14); CP 2021, 124, 1257 (Rufin 

Dep. at 75:19-21). Once West entered the interview process, Cola, who 

had encouraged Ms. Rufin to apply for the position, changed his view of 
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her qualifications, and Ms. Rutin's successful application process stopped. 

CP 1065. Cola's change of heart upon West's involvement is the core of 

this claim. These facts support Rutin's theory of the case: that Carrasco 

learned of Rutin's application and directed his subordinate to ensure she 

was not hired. In December 2011, Rufin applied for the LPSM position. 

CP 2311. Cola and Haynes both rated the resumes of twenty-two 

candidates and they rated the resumes of the same five candidates, 

including Rufin, "High." CP 4093-95. All five were invited to the First 

Interview, but one declined. CP 1304. Rufin interviewed February 9, 

2012. CP 2311. The First Interview panel included Cola and three others. 

CP 1300-06. The four panelists unanimously rated Rutin "High." Id. Two 

other candidates were also rated "High" by the first panel. On February 

13, 2012, the City's Personnel Specialist, Ms. Ogunyemi, documented in 

the official Hiring Status Report for the LPSM position that all three were 

unanimously recommended for a Second Interview. See CP 2303 (~ 4); CP 

1120; CP 1300-06. 

Then, in a separate entry the next day, Ogunyemi documented that 

Phil West (Carrasco's direct report) made the decision to exclude Rufin 

from further interviews. Even though the interview panel recommended 

that three applicants would proceed to the next level, only "Cheryl and 

Glynda" were "Two decided for 2nd inter[ view] by Phil West due to their 
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technical expertise and familiarity with CL [Projects]." CP 2303 (~5) 

(emphasis added); CP 1120, 4075. Ms. Ogunyemi testified, "This is what 

Darnell [Cola] told me." CP 2303 (~5). While this is the only 

contemporaneously documented reason for Rufin's failure to advance in 

the LPSM hiring process, after she was rated "High"- equal with Cheryl 

and Glynda who advanced2-Hiring Manager Cola testified it is not the 

reason Rufin did not advance. See CP 1124 (~8), and CP 1302. (One of the 

two who advanced and received a second interview that Rufin did not 

receive was not a licensed professional engineer like Rufin and did not 

have any background in an electrical utility like Rufin. See CP 2312-13.) 

Less than three months after Rufin was rejected in the LPSM 

hiring process, Cola told her that the decision not to hire her for the 

CMEM position was "political"3 and H.R. Officer Johnson told her that 

she "burned her bridges" and would never be considered for any future 

management positions at City Light. CP 628; CP 2145-46 (189:13-190:5). 

3. The Court Granted Summary Judgment As To One Claim 
And Denied Summary Judgment As To The Other; Then 
Excluded That Evidence From the Jury; The Court Of 
Appeals Affirmed. 

Rufin filed suit under the WLAD alleging that the failure to hire 

her for either the CMEM or LPSM positions was retaliation. CP 316-3 7. 

2 See CP 1300-06. 
3 CP 2103 (20:13-21:10); CP 2027 (27:23-29:2). 
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The City and Carrasco moved for summary judgment on the retaliation 

claim. CP 1067-92, 1191-1218. The trial court denied summary judgment 

as to the CMEM job; but dismissed the claim as to her contemporaneous 

non-hiring for the LPSM job. CP 3131-32. In its oral ruling, the trial court 

repeatedly stated that it analyzed the evidence of the CMEM and LPSM 

hiring processes "separately." RP (Feb. 27, 2014), at 58. Reconsideration 

was sought and denied. CP 2394-2405, 2444. 

The trial court also granted a motion in limine excluding from trial 

all evidence and testimony about the failure to hire Rutin for the LPSM 

job during the same period it refused to hire her for the CMEM job.4 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. The Court Of Appeals Decision Is In Conflict With Prior 
Court of Appeals and Supreme Court Decisions Regarding 
Acceptable Methods for Showing a Causal Link. 

To date, this Court has not addressed the elements of a prima facie 

case in retaliation cases brought under the WLAD at summary judgment, 

and how the evidence should be considered. 5 But Scrivener provides 

guidance, which the Court of Appeals ignored. "[S]ummary judgment to an 

employer is seldom appropriate in the WLAD cases because of the 

4 CP 3519, RP (Mar. 27,2014), 46-47, 80-82; RP (Apr. 7, 2014) 63. 
5 Wilmot v. Kaiser Aluminum & Chern. Corp., 118 Wn.2d 46, 70, 821 P.2d 18 (1991) is 
a common law wrongful discharge case, which only provides the analysis for evaluating a 
prima facie case at summary judgment in a workers' compensation claim context. 
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difficulty of proving a discriminatory motivation." Scrivener v. Clark 

College, 181 Wn.2d 439, 445, 334 P.3d 541 (2014). See also Davis v. West 

One Auto Group, 140 Wn. App. 449, 456 (2007) (Stephens, J.) (summary 

judgment in favor of the employer in a discrimination case often 

inappropriate because often reasonable but competing inferences of both 

discrimination and nondiscrimination that must be resolved by a jury). The 

Court of Appeals ignored those admonitions and affirmed the dismissal of 

the LPSM claim finding that, "Rufin failed to establish any causal 

connection between the protected activity and the adverse action." See Op., 

5-6. This may be the wrong test. It may be that petitioner is required to 

show evidence that retaliation was a substantial motive behind the adverse 

employment action. Davis, 140 Wn. App. at 460. The trial court also 

ignored evidence (like the "burned your bridges" comment) and failed to 

view the evidence in the light most favorable to the petitioner. As in 

Scrivener and Davis, here, "[t]he parties presented reasonable but 

competing inferences of discriminatory and nondiscriminatory intent. 

Therefore, a jury should weigh the evidence." Scrivener, 181 Wn.2d at 450. 

a. Circumstantial Evidence of Retaliation Includes Proof 
That Defendant's Explanations Are Not Believable. 

"Proof that the defendant's explanation is unworthy of credence is 

simply one form of circumstantial evidence that is probative of intentional 
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discrimination, and it may be quite persuasive."6 "Multiple, incompatible 

reasons [for an action] may support an inference that none of the reasons 

given is the real reason .... Conflicting reasons or evidence rebutting their 

accuracy or believability are sufficient to create competing inferences ....

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