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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A petition for review is accepted only if the decision of the Court 

of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of this Court or another decision 

of the Court of Appeals; if a significant Constitutional question is 

presented; or if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest 

that should be determined by the Court. RAP 13.4(b). Here, there is no 

decisional conflict, and there is no substantial public interest raised by the 

Court of Appeals' application of settled Washington law in an unpublished 

decision. The petition therefore should be denied. 

A. Affirming Partial Summary Judgment Dismissing Ms. Rutin's 
LPSM Claim Created No Decisional Conflict. 

1. The Court of Appeals applied the correct standard in 
determining whether Ms. Rutin met her prima facie 
production burden. 

Under the WLAD, a plaintiff makes a prima facie case of unlawful 

retaliation by producing evidence of (1) protected activity; (2) an adverse 

employment action; and (3) a causal connection between the protected 

activity and the adverse employment action, "i.e., that the employer's 

motivation for the [adverse action] was the employee's exercise of or 

intent to exercise the statutory rights." Wilmot v. Kaiser Aluminum and 

Chern. Corp., 118 Wn.2d 46, 68-69, 821 P.2d 18 (1991 ); see also, 
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Milligan v. Thompson, 110 Wn. App. 628, 638,42 P.3d 418 (2002); 

Graves v. Dept. ofGame, 76 Wn. App. 705,711-12, 887 P.2d 424 (1994). 

This is not a "but for" causation standard; the plaintiff need only show that 

retaliation was a "substantial factor" in the adverse employment decision. 

Allison v. Housing Authority ofCity ofSeattle, 118 Wn.2d 79,95-96, 821 

P.2d 34 (1991); 1 see also Opinion at 5 (quoting Allison). 

The causal link standard announced in Allison is precisely that 

urged by Ms. Rufin below and applied by the Court of Appeals. 

Appellant's Br. at 31 ("In Washington, a plaintiff bringing a retaliation 

claim proves causation by 'showing that retaliation was a substantial 

factor motivating the adverse employment decision."') (quoting Allison) 

(emphasis original); Opinion at 5. Ms. Rufin's suggestion that the test she 

urged and that the Court of Appeals applied "may be the wrong test" (Pet. 

at 15) is puzzling. Certainly Allison is not the wrong test. 

Ms. Rufin's only support for the "wrong test" notion is a citation to 

Davis v. West One Automotive Group, 140 Wn. App. 449, 166 P.3d 807 

(2007). In Davis, the Court of Appeals used slightly different words 

("substantial motive behind" rather than "substantial factor motivating") to 

describe the same causation factor decided in Allison; ifthere is any 

1 In Allison, this Court affirmed that the prima facie causation showing announced 
in Wilmot (which involved a claim for common law retaliatory discharge) supplied the 
correct standard for such a claim under the WLAD. Allison, 118 Wn.2d at 89 n.3. 
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distinction, it is without difference. 140 Wn. App. at 460.2 

There also is no support for the notion that the Court of Appeals 

ignored Scrivener v. Clark College, 181 Wn.2d 439, 334 P.3d 541 (2014), 

failed to consider circumstantial evidence, or failed to view the evidence 

in the light most favorable to Ms. Rutin. (Pet. at 14-15.) To the contrary, 

the Court of Appeals cited and acknowledged Scrivener. Opinion at 4. 

The Court of Appeals concluded that there was only speculation, not 

reasonable inference or circumstantial evidence, supporting a causal link 

between Ms. Rutin's protected activity and an adverse employment action. 

Opinion at 6. The Court of Appeals reached the correct conclusion, for 

the reasons briefly summarized below. 

Darnell Cola was the hiring manager responsible for the LPSM 

hiring process. Opinion at 5. Ms. Rutin conceded there was no evidence 

that Mr. Cola or any other member of the panel was aware of her prior 

protected conduct. (CP 1256 at 70:17-71: 17.) Glynda Steiner eventually 

was offered and accepted the position. (!d.; CP 1124 ~ 7.) Ms. Rutin 

admitted that the decision to hire Ms. Steiner was not discriminatory and 

2 There is no indication that the Court of Appeals in Davis intended any departure 
from the Allison substantial factor test by the use of slightly different language. The 
Davis court cited to Campbell v. State, 129 Wn. App. 10,22-23, 118 P.3d 888 (2005). 
Campbell in tum relied upon Kahn v. Salerno, 90 Wn. App. 110, 129,951 P.2d 321 
(1998), which cited to Allison. Although Ms. Rutin cited to Davis in passing below (see 
Appellant's Br. at 27, 28), she never argued for a different causation test than that 
announced by this Court in Allison. 
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expressed only admiration and respect for Ms. Steiner. (CP 1259-60 at 

85:21-86:10; CP 1274 at 244:13-245:15.) 

Mr. Carrasco is the person Ms. Rufin claims retaliated against her. 

He was not involved in the LPSM hiring process. (CP 1123 ~ 4; CP 250 

~ 24; CP 1062 ~ 5; CP 1064 ~ 5; CP 1127 ~ 5.) The uncontroverted 

evidence is that Mr. Cola and the members of the hiring panel decided not 

to hire Ms. Rufin. (CP 250 ~ 24; CP 1123-24 ~~ 4, 6-7; CP 1061-62 ~~ 2-

4; CP 1063-64 ~~ 2-4; CP 1126-27 ~~ 2-4, 6.) 

Ms. Rufin argues that Mr. Carrasco must have learned of her 

application for the LPSM position, and that he must have intervened in the 

hiring process. (CP 1256-57 at 73:10-76:21; CP 607 ~ 77; CP 610 ~ 92.) 

As "evidence," Ms. Rufin cites a single, handwritten entry in the LPSM 

hiring status report, which notes that three candidates were to receive 

second interviews, and later states "two [candidates, Ms. Ooka and Ms. 

Steiner] decided for 2nd intv by Phil West." (!d.; CP 1308-10.) However, 

as Ms. Rufin admitted at deposition, this entry does not show that Mr. 

Carrasco intervened, and she can only speculate whether he did. (CP 1257 

at 75:8-76:21. See also, CP 610 ~ 92.) 

Ms. Rufin's alternate theory is that Mr. Carrasco's attitude about 

her "permeated down" to Mr. West, but she admitted that this view is 

based on belief rather than fact. (CP 1257-58 at 76:7-79:20; CP 1272 at 
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219: 17-220:8.) The uncontroverted evidence was that the hiring panel 

unanimously decided not to hire Ms. Rufin following the first interview, 

and made this decision without any influence from Mr. Carrasco. (CP 

1123-25 ~~ 4, 6-7; CP 250 ~ 24; CP 1061-62 ~~ 2-5; CP 1063-64 ~~ 2-5; 

CP 1126-27 ~~ 2-5.) 

When asked whether she believed that Mr. Carrasco was aware of 

the LPSM position that Ms. Rufin was seeking, she said it was possible, 

saying "[t]hat I'm less confident of, but I'm- if he was not directly aware, 

then I believe that Phil West was aware that Jorge did not like me." 

Opinion at 6. The Court of Appeals properly did not credit this 

speculation. White v. State, 131 Wn.2d 1, 9, 929 P.2d 396 (1997) 

("[h]owever, a nonmoving party may not rely on speculation or on 

argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues remain"); see also 

Marquis v. City ofSpokane, 130 Wn.2d 97, 105,922 P.2d 43 (1996) (a 

WLAD plaintiff "must do more than express an opinion or make 

conclusory statements" to avoid summary judgment). 

This is not a case like Scrivener, which turned on the question of 

whether an employer's asserted non-discriminatory reason for an adverse 

employment action was pretext. Here, there were no "reasonable but 

competing inferences of discriminatory and nondiscriminatory intent," 181 

Wn.2d at 450, but instead a failure to produce evidence of a causal link in 
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the first place. There simply was no evidence connecting Mr. Carrasco to 

the LPSM hiring decision. 3 

In reaching this conclusion, the Court of Appeals and the trial court 

considered the evidence regarding the CME hiring process. Ms. Rufin 

clings to a statement by the trial court that each process was considered 

separately (Pet. at 14), but the trial court was absolutely clear that it 

granted summary judgment on the LPSM claim "even when evaluating the 

evidence in light of what had occurred during Ms. Rutin's attempt to be 

hired into the CME 3 position." (CP 3661.) And the Court of Appeals 

itself conducted a de novo review of the trial court's summary judgment, 

engaging in "the same inquiry as the trial court." Opinion at 4. There was 

3 Evidence about inconsistencies in the LPSM process might matter if the process 
had been conducted by Mr. Carrasco. But there is no evidence linking Mr. Carrasco to 
the process, and the evidence of purportedly inconsistent explanations of Mr. Cola's 
decision not to hire Ms. Rufin are irrelevant because none of the alleged inconsistencies 
tends to show that Mr. Carrasco was secretly involved in the LPSM process. 

Ms. Rufin cites to three cases for the proposition that inconsistent explanations 
provide evidence of discriminatory intent. These cases are inapposite because they all 
address the use of inconsistencies to establish pretext, not a prima facie showing of a 
causal link. Hill v. BTCI Income Fund-I, L.P., 144 Wn.2d 172, 184, 23 P.3d 440 (2001) 
(inconsistent explanation for employment action probative of pretext; pretext alone 
insufficient to avoid judgment as a matter of law); Currier v. Northland Servs., Inc., 182 
Wn. App. 733, 748-49, 332 P.3d 1006 (2014) (affmningjudgment after trial; court was 
not required to credit non-discriminatory justifications for termination of employment in 
light of inconsistent testimony and lack of contemporaneous documentation); Renz v. 
Spokane Eye Clinic, P.S., 114 Wn. App. 611,624, 60 P.3d 106 (2002) (reversing 
summary judgment; inconsistencies surrounding non-discriminatory reasons for 
termination supported showing of pretext). Here, the Court of Appeals did not reach the 
question whether the stated reasons were pretextual, because Ms. Rufin did not meet her 
initial prima facie burden of establishing that her protected activity was connected to the 
decision not to hire (that is, her burden of showing that an action by Mr. Carrasco was a 
substantial factor in her non-hiring for the LPSM position). 

10 



no failure to consider the entire record below. 

Rather, the circumstantial evidence regarding the CME process 

was simply unrelated to the LPSM process, and qualitatively different than 

the speculation Ms. Rufin offered about the LPSM process. There was 

evidence that Mr. Carrasco became aware of the CME process; there was 

never any evidence that he knew anything about the LPSM process. There 

was no evidence that Phil West had anything to do with the CME process; 

he was (slightly) involved in the LPSM process. The pertinent events the 

trial court found sufficient to show a prima facie connection between Mr. 

Carrasco and the CME process, beginning with Ms. Rutin's e-mail to Mr. 

Carrasco on June 11, 2012, occurred months after the LPSM hiring 

process had closed. Any connection between these two hiring processes 

was entirely speculative. 

Ms. Rutin's position appears to be that when a trial court is 

presented with one claim that survives summary judgment, all claims 

necessarily must proceed to trial. This position finds no support in 

Washington law. Partial summary judgment was appropriate here and 

does not conflict with this Court's precedents. 

2. The Court of Appeals did not apply the "stray 
remarks" doctrine. 

Ms. Rufin notes the Court's implicit rejection ofthe "stray 
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remarks" doctrine in Scrivener, 181 Wn.2d at 450, as if to suggest that the 

Court of Appeals applied that doctrine here to avoid considering evidence. 

It did not. 

In Scrivener, the responsible hiring official made a statement 

indicating a desire to hire "younger talent," which the Court held to be 

circumstantial evidence of an intent to discriminate based on age. 181 

Wn.2d at 449-50. 

Here, unlike in Scrivener, the two "remarks" in question- an 

alleged statement by Ms. Johnson that Ms. Rufin had "burned her 

bridges," and an alleged statement by Mr. Cola that the CME hiring 

process was "political"- neither were connected to Ms. Rutin's protected 

activity nor connected to Mr. Carrasco. Both comments were made in the 

context of the CME process, and no evidence connected a burned bridge 

or a political decision to the LPSM hire. Both the trial court and the Court 

of Appeals considered these remarks and concluded that they did not 

support a reasonable inference that retaliatory intent was a substantial 

factor in the decision not to hire Ms. Rufin for the LPSM position. The 

Court of Appeals indicated no dispute with this Court's implicit rejection 

of the "stray remarks" doctrine. No conflict needs be resolved. 

* * * 

The Court of Appeals broke no new ground in its decision 
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affirming partial summary judgment: considering the record as a whole, 

including admissions by Ms. Rufin and the testimony of the City Light 

decision-makers who decided not to hire her, Ms. Rufin failed to produce 

evidence that protected activity was a substantial factor in the decision to 

hire another, concededly well-qualified applicant. This straightforward 

application ofthe causation standard announced by this Court in Allison 

creates no decisional conflict justifying this Court's review. 

B. Affirming the Trial Court's Evidentiary Rulings Created No 
Decisional Conflict. 

Having determined that Ms. Rutin's LPSM claim should be 

dismissed, the trial court did not permit Ms. Rufin to present evidence 

regarding that hiring process to the jury. This was a proper exercise of the 

trial court's discretion and the Court of Appeals did not err in affirming. 

Ms. Rufin implicitly contends that this decision is in conflict with 

Wilmot, which held that "evidence of a pattern of retaliatory conduct" can 

support a prima facie causal link between protected activity and an 

adverse employment decision. 118 Wn.2d at 69. But Wilmot stands only 

for the proposition that that other "retaliatory" conduct may be used to 

support a claim that the adverse employment decision, too, was retaliatory. 

Nothing in the Court of Appeals' decision is contrary to this 

principle. Instead, the Court of Appeals held that it was not an abuse of 
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discretion to exclude evidence regarding the LPSM hiring process, 

because that hiring process had been determined not to be discriminatory 

or retaliatory as a matter oflaw at summary judgment. Opinion at 7-8. 

Thus, evidence that Ms. Rufin was not hired for the LPSM position was 

not relevant to her CME claim and was properly excluded. ER 402. 

Moreover, the trial court determined that the probative value was 

substantially outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice and misleading the 

jury, confusion of the issues, or considerations of waste of time. ER 403. 

This was a proper exercise of the trial court's discretion. Opinion at 8. 

Ms. Rufin has identified no applicable precedent in conflict with 

the Court of Appeals' decision, and review of the Court of Appeals' 

affirmance of discretionary trial court rulings is unnecessary. 

C. This Case Presents No Matter of Substantial Public Interest. 

Ms. Rufin contends that this Court should make clear that a 

WLAD plaintiff need not "produce admissions from the relevant decision

maker(s), admitting either that they had knowledge of the plaintiffs 

statutorily protected activity or were influenced in their decision by a 

person with such knowledge." (Pet. at 20.) This argument is a straw man, 

not a matter of substantial public interest. Neither the trial court nor the 

Court of Appeals set such a burden in this case. Indeed, Ms. Rufin 
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prevailed on summary judgment on a claim where she presented no direct 

evidence of retaliation and where she produced no such admissions. 

A plaintiff may not proceed on speculation alone, but 

circumstantial evidence of discriminatory intent may be admissible. The 

result in this case confirms that Washington courts permit plaintiffs to 

proceed to trial on the basis of minimal, circumstantial evidence but do not 

allow claims to go forward based on outright speculation: the entirely 

speculative LPSM claim was dismissed on summary judgment but the 

highly circumstantial CME claim was presented to, and rejected by, a jury. 

There is no need to further address a WLAD plaintiffs burden through 

review of this unpublished opinion. 

V. CONCLUSION 

There is no conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and 

this Court's decisions or other decisions ofthe Court of Appeals, and this 

matter is not of substantial public interest. Review should be denied. 

15